NO. 45894-2-II

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION II

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

MICHAEL BROGAN,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF COWLITZ COUNTY

Before the Honorable Marilyn Haan, Judge

OPENING BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Peter B. Tiller, WSBA No. 20835 Of Attorneys for Appellant

The Tiller Law Firm Corner of Rock and Pine P. O. Box 58 Centralia, WA 98531 (360) 736-9301

B. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. Appellant Michael Brogan's right to a fair and impartial jury was violated when the court ordered the jurors to return the following Monday and continue deliberations, despite agreement by all jurors that they were deadlocked and that it was not possible to reach a verdict within a reasonable amount of time.

2. The trial court erred by denying the appellant's motion for mistrial.

C. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment guarantees the right to trial by a fair and impartial jury, including the right to have each juror reach a verdict uninfluenced by judicial coercion. When, in response to the jury's statement that it was deadlocked, the court ordered the jurors to return the following Monday to continue deliberations, did the court impermissibly

....

1

coerce the jurors into returning a guilty verdict? (Assignment of Error 1)

2. Did the trial court err by denying Mr. Brogan's motion for mistrial based on the argument that the court coerced the jurors into returning a guilty verdict when it ordered the jurors to return the following Monday? (Assignment of Error 2)

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. <u>Procedural facts</u>:

Michael Brogan was charged by amended information filed in Cowlitz County Superior Court with one count of delivery of a controlled substance (heroin), in violation of RCW 69.50.401(1). Clerk's Papers (CP) 6-7. The information contained a special allegation under RCW 69.50.435(1)(c) that the offense was committed within 1000 feet of a school bus route stop. CP 7.

No motions were filed nor heard regarding either a CrR 3.5 or CrR 3.6 hearing.

The matter came on for jury trial on December 12, 13, and 16, 2013, the Honorable Marilyn Haan presiding.

The defense noted an objection to the language contained in the special verdict form, requiring the jury to unanimously agree whether the offense was committed within 1000 feet of a school bus stop. Report of Proceedings (RP) (12/13/13) at 5, 6.¹

On the afternoon of December 13, 2013 the jury notified a bailiff that it was deadlocked. Judge Haan was out of the building and the matter was referred to Judge Stephen Warning. Judge Warning directed the jury to make a written statement regarding its position. RP (12/13/13) at 48. Counsel was not informed of the jury's statement and the jury was not brought into the courtroom. RP (12/13/13) at 48. After Judge Haan returned to the courthouse that afternoon, the court called the jurors into the courtroom and asked the presiding juror "[I]f there a reasonable possibility of the jury reaching a verdict within a reasonable time?" RP (12/13/13) at 49. The presiding juror answered in the negative. RP (12/13/13) at 49. The court then polled each juror to determine whether they agreed that there was no possibility they could reach a verdict. RP (12/13/13) at 50. All jurors agreed. RP (12/13/13) at 50-51.

The jury was brought into the courtroom again and the judge directed the jury to return to court the following Monday, December 16, 2013. RP (12/13/13) at 57. On Monday morning the jury returned a verdict of guilty to the offense as charged and also found that it was committed within 1000

¹The record of proceedings is designated as follows: RP – October 7, 2013, December 5, 2013, December 16, 2013 (jury trial), January 6, 2014, and January 13, 2014,

feet of a school bus route stop. RP (12/16/13) at 12; CP 48, 49. The court polled the jurors and each one responded that the verdicts represented the verdicts of the jury and his or her individual verdicts. RP (12/16/13) at 15-18.

Following reading of the verdict on December 16, defense counsel moved for mistrial, arguing that the jury had returned to court two times on December 13 and announced that they were deadlocked. RP (12/16/13) at 16. After hearing argument, the court denied the motion. RP (12/16/13) at 17-18.

At sentencing, Mr. Brogan requested that he be sentenced to prisonbased DOSA. RP (1/13/14) at 30. The court denied the DOSA request, found that Mr. Brogan had an offender score of 2, and imposed a standard range sentence of 16 months and a 24 month school bus route stop enhancement, for a total of 40 months. RP (1/13/14) at 33; CP 50-62.

Timely notice of appeal was filed on January 23, 2014. CP 67. This appeal follows.

2. <u>Testimony at trial</u>:

⁽sentencing); RP—December 12, 2013 (jury trial); and RP—December 13, 2013 (jury trial).

Lamont Hart testified that on July 6, 2012, he participated in a "controlled buy" of drugs while working as confidential informant for the Longview Police Department. RP (12/12/13) at 73. Hart had been arrested previously for delivery of drugs and entered into a contact with police to buy drugs in order to "work off" the potential charges. RP (12/12/13) at 74. Hart was subsequently convicted of the delivery charge. RP (12/12/13) at 75.

Hart was searched by detectives at a meeting point and provided with \$100.00 in "buy money." RP (12/12/13) at 77. Hart stated that he contacted Brogan by phone to arrange the drug deal. RP (12/12/13) at 79. He testified that while with the police on July 6, 2012, he called Brogan a second time to make sure the drug deal was still going to take place. RP (12/12/13) at 79, 80. He then rode his bicycle to Brogan's apartment in Longview, Washington. RP (12/12/13) at 80. Police watched Hart ride his bicycle from the meeting point to Brogan's apartment, and had observed Brogan standing outside his apartment shortly before Hart arrived. RP (12/12/13) at 51.

Hart stated that he knocked on the apartment door and then went inside. RP (12/12/13) at 81. He testified that he gave \$100.00 in "buy money" to Brogan, who was sitting at a computer, and that Brogan then pointed to a table with a scale on it. RP (12/12/13) at 81. Hart got five bags

from the scale and left the apartment. RP (12/12/13) at 83, 84. Hart rode back to the meeting point and gave the police five bags. RP (12/12/13) at 84. He was searched again and the police found no additional drugs. RP (12/12/13) at 84.

Over defense objection, the prosecution introduced a post from a Facebook page which stated that Hart was "a rat," that he "did a controlled buy on me," and that the writer of the post would "have his discovery next week." RP (12/12/13) at 118. A Longview police detective opined that the Facebook post was made by Brogan. RP (12/12/13) at 118.

An employee of the Washington State Patrol Laboratory testified that he tested the contents of one of the five bags received from Hart by the police and identified the substance as heroin. RP (12/12/13) at 145; Exhibit 2A.

Rick Lecker, transportation manager for Longview School District, testified that there is a designated school bus stop for the Longview School District at 970 Eighth Avenue, Longview, near the location of Brogan's apartment at 862 Eight Avenue. RP (12/12/13) at 150.

Ruth Bunch Manwell, GIS coordinator for Longview, prepared a map showing a 1000 foot radius around the bus stop at 970 Eighth Avenue. RP (12/12/13) at 155. Exhibit 4. The apartment is located within the thousand foot buffer denoted on the map by a red circle. RP (12/12/13) at 158. The defense rested without calling witnesses. RP (12/13/13) at 7.

E. <u>ARGUMENT</u>

1. <u>THE TRIAL COURT VIOLATED MR.</u> BROGAN'S RIGHT TO DUE PROCESS AND ALSO VIOLATED CrR 6.15 WHEN IT ORDERED THE JURY TO RECONVENE THE FOLLOWING MONDAY, AFTER THE JURY ANNOUNCED THAT IT WAS DEADLOCKED THE PREVIOUS FRIDAY.

A criminal defendant's right to a fair trial before an impartial jury is protected by the federal and state constitutions. U.S. Const. amends. VI, XIV; Const. art. I §§ 3, 22. The Washington Constitution also requires a jury verdict be based on unanimity that every element was proven beyond a reasonable doubt. Const. art. I, §§ 21, 22; *State v. Ortega-Martinez*, 124 Wn.2d 702, 707, 881 P.2d 231 (1994).

In addition, each juror must be permitted to reach his or her verdict uninfluenced by factors other than the evidence, the court's proper instructions, and argument of counsel. *State v. Goldberg*, 149 Wn.2d 888, 892, 72 P.3d 1083 (2003); *State v. Boogaard*, 90 Wn.2d 733, 736, 585 P.2d 789 (1978). Thus, due process requires that the trial court judge not bring coercive pressure on the jury deliberations. *Boogaard*, 90 Wn.2d at 736-37.

When a jury is deadlocked, the trial court has authority to require the jury to continue deliberations, although that authority is limited. CrR

6.16(a)(3). The right to a fair and impartial jury trial requires that the judge not bring coercive pressure to bear upon the deliberations of a criminal jury. Under the limitations placed on the trial court, CrR 6.16(a)(3)prevents the trial court from instructing a deadlocked jury in a manner that suggests (1) the need for agreement, (2) the consequences of not agreeing on a unanimous verdict, or (3) the length of time the jury should deliberate. CrR 6.15(f)(2). The purpose of the rule is to prevent judicial intervention into the deliberative process and to ensure that the court does not instruct the jury in such a way as to suggest the need for agreement after deliberations have begun. *State v. Watkins*, 99 Wn.2d 166, 175, 660 P.2d 1117 (1983); *Boogaard*, 90 Wn.2d at 736, 738.

When a jury declares it is unable to reach a verdict, the judge may consider the complexity of the case and the length of deliberations relative to the length of the trial, make limited inquires of the jury that do not amount to impermissible coercion, and then determine whether to discharge the jury or order them to resume their deliberations. *State v. Jones*, 97 Wn.2d 159, 165, 641 P.2d 708 (1982); The Washington Pattern Jury Instructions provide an instruction for judges to read when the jury indicates it may be deadlocked or the court is considering possible discharge for that reason. The instruction simply calls for the court to ask the presiding jury if "there is a reasonable

· · • . .

8

probability of the jury reaching a verdict within a reasonable time." 11 Wash.

Pract. Pattern Jury Instructions Criminal, WPIC 4.70.

Here, the jury had deliberated more than five hours before informing the

court that it was unable to reach a verdict. When the court received the

message regarding the deadlock, the judge called the jurors into open court and

conducted the following inquiry:

THE COURT: I have called you back into the courtroom to find out whether you have a reasonable probability of reaching a verdict. First, a word of caution, because you are in the process of deliberating, it is essential that you give no indication about how the deliberations are going. You must not make any remark here in the courtroom that may adversely affect the rights of either party or may, in any way, disclose your opinion of the case or the opinions of other members of the jury.

I'm going to ask you, as the Presiding Juror, if there is a reasonable probability of the jury reaching a verdict within a reasonable time. You must restrict your answer to yes or no when I ask you this question and you mustn't not say anything else.

So, with that, is a reasonable probability of the jury reaching a verdict within a reasonable time in this matter? . .

JUROR: No.

THE COURT: All right.

RP (12/13/13) at 50-51.

The jury was polled and all responded that they were in agreement that

they were unable to reach a verdict. RP (12/13/13) at 50-51.

The court then excused the jury and directed them to return to the

jury room. RP (12/13/13) at 51.

After discussion with counsel, the jury was brought into the courtroom and were released until the following Monday morning. RP(12/13/13) at 57.

On Monday, December 16, 2013, the court announced that the jury had reached a verdict. The jury was brought into the courtroom at 9:44 a.m. RP (12/16/13) at 11. The jury was polled and each juror indicated the verdict represented the verdict of the jury and his or her individual verdict. (12/16/13) at 13-15.

Under these circumstances, the court's conduct was inherently coercive. First, the jury deliberated a significant amount of time, more than five hours, relative to the length of the trial testimony, which was approximately four hours of testimony. Second, the jury was presented with only one real issue, that is, whether Brogan sold drugs to Hart.

Brogan arugues that based on the foregoing, this Court should conclude that by ordering the jury to return on Monday, and by ignoring the jury's unequivocal announcement on the previous Friday afternoon that it was deadlocked, the court improperly coerced a verdict.

A Court may review this issue for the first time on appeal because it involves a manifest error affecting a constitutional right. Appellate courts may review an alleged error raised for the first time on appeal if it is a manifest error affecting a constitutional right. RAP 2.5(a)(3); *State v. Ford*, 151 Wn.App. 530, 538, 213 P.3d 54 (2009) (citing *State v. Walsh*, 143 Wn.2d 1, 7, 17 P.3d 591 (2001)). Where it is substantially likely that a trial court's error in requiring a deadlocked jury to return to the court after the weekend for further deliberation affected the outcome of the trial, the error is a manifest error affecting a constitutional right. *Ford*, 151 Wn. App. at 540-41. Because it is substantially likely that the trial court's direction to return caused one or more jurors to change their votes in order to reach a verdict, this error affected Mr. Brogan's constitutional right to a trial by a fair and impartial jury, and this Court may review the issue for the first time on appeal.

Where it is substantially likely that the trial court's order to a deadlocked jury affected the jury's verdict, the defendant is entitled to a new trial. *Ford*, 151 Wn. App. at 538. Here, the jury was unequivocal that it was deadlocked on Friday afternoon. After being ordered to return on Monday morning, the jury almost immediately reached a verdict. Brogan submits that the record shows that the court improperly coerced the verdict. Therefore, the case should be remanded for new trial. *See Boogaard*, 90 Wn.2d at 738.

F. CONCLUSION

The trial court improperly coerced a deadlocked jury to continue deliberations and reach a verdict. For the foregoing reasons, Mr. Brogan