## NO. 45894-2-II

# IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON,

#### **DIVISION II**

# STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

vs.

## MICHAEL BROGAN,

Appellant.

#### RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

SUSAN I. BAUR
Prosecuting Attorney
SEAN BRITTAIN/WSBA 36804
Deputy Prosecuting Attorney
Representing Respondent

HALL OF JUSTICE 312 SW FIRST KELSO, WA 98626 (360) 577-3080

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

n	A	•	٦,	17
r	А	J	T.	r.

I.	ISSUES 1			
П.	SHORT ANSWERS1			
III.	FACTS 1			
IV.	ARGUMENT 1			
	A. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT VIOLATE THE APPELLANT'S DUE PROCESS RIGHTS OR CrR 6.15 WHEN IT ORDERED THE JURY TO CONTINUE ITS DELIBERATIONS			
V.	CONCLUSION 6			

# TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Page

Cases
Arizona v. Washington, 434 U.S. 497, 58 S.Ct. 824, 832, 54 L.Ed.2d 717 (1978)
State v. Barnes, 85 Wn. App. 638, 932 P.2d 669 (Div. II 1997) 4
State v. Boogaard, 90 Wn.2d 733, 585 P.2d 789 (1978)
State v. Connors, 59 Wn.2d 879, 371 P.2d 541 (1962)
State v. Dykstra, 33 Wn. App. 648, 656 P.2d 1137 (Div. II 1983) 2, 3
State v. Ford, 171 Wn.2d 185, 250 P.3d 97 (2011)
State v. Jones, 97 Wn.2d 159, 641 P.2d 708 (1982)
State v. Watkins, 99 Wn.2d 166, 660 P.2d 1117 (1983)
Rules
CrR 6.15

## I. <u>ISSUES</u>

- 1. Did the trial court violate the Appellant's right to due process when it ordered the jury to continue deliberations?
- 2. Did the trial court err in denying the Appellant's motion for mistrial?

## II. SHORT ANSWERS

- 1. **No.** The trial court did not improperly coerce the jury into returning a guilty verdict when it ordered the jury to continue deliberations.
- 2. **No.** The trial court properly denied the Appellant's motion for a mistrial after the jury returned its verdict.

## III. <u>FACTS</u>

The State agrees, for the most part, with the factual and procedural history as set forth by the Appellant. Where appropriate, the State's brief will point to specific facts in the record regarding the issues before the Court.

#### IV. ARGUMENT

A. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT VIOLATE THE APPELLANT'S DUE PROCESS RIGHTS OR CrR 6.15 WHEN IT ORDERED THE JURY TO CONTINUE ITS DELIBERATIONS.

It is commonly recognized that a defendant's right to a jury trial includes "the right to have each juror reach his verdict uninfluenced by factors outside the evidence, the court's proper instructions, and the arguments of counsel." *State v. Boogaard*, 90 Wn.2d 733, 736, 585 P.2d

789 (1978). "To prevail on a claim of improper judicial interference with the verdict, a defendant 'must establish a reasonable substantial possibility that the verdict was improperly influenced by the trial court's intervention." *State v. Ford*, 171 Wn.2d 185, 188-89, 250 P.3d 97 (2011) (quoting *State v. Watkins*, 99 Wn.2d 166, 178, 660 P.2d 1117 (1983)). More than mere speculation is required; rather, a defendant must affirmatively show the trial court's intervention improperly influenced the jury. *Ford*, 171 Wn.2d at 189.

The trial court has broad discretion in deciding whether to discharge a jury. *Arizona v. Washington*, 434 U.S. 497, 509, 58. S.Ct. 824, 832, 54 L.Ed.2d 717 (1978). Thus, a reviewing court grants great deference to the trial court's determination whether to discharge a "deadlocked" jury. *State v. Dykstra*, 33 Wn. App. 648, 650, 656 P.2d 1137 (Div. II 1983). The basis for this deference is simple:

On the one hand, if...[the trial judge] discharges the jury when further deliberations may produce a fair verdict, the defendant is deprived of his "valued right to have his trial completed by a particular tribunal." But if he fails to discharge a jury which in unable to reach a verdict after protracted and exhausting deliberations, there exists a significant risk that a verdict may result from pressures inherent in the situation rather than the considered judgment of all the jurors.

Arizona v. Washington, 434 U.S. at 509, 58. S.Ct. at 832.

A trial court's determination must rest on the presence of "extraordinary and striking' circumstances which indicate substantial justice cannot be obtained without declaring a mistrial." *Dykstra*, 33 Wn. App at 651 (citing *Jones*, 97 Wn.2d at 163). When exercising its discretion, the trial court should "evaluate the length of time the jury had been deliberating, viewing that in light of the volume and complexity of the evidence." *Boogaard*, 90 Wn.2d at 739. The improper discharge of a jury would have the same effect as an acquittal in that retrial would be barred. *State v. Jones*, 97 Wn.2d 159, 163, 641 P.2d 708 (1982). "[A] too quick discharge of a hung jury would be held a violation of the defendant's right to a verdict of that jury..." *State v. Connors*, 59 Wn.2d 879, 883, 371 P.2d 541 (1962).

Here, the Appellant cannot affirmatively establish that the trial court's decision to have the jury continue its deliberations improperly influenced its verdict; rather, the Appellant can only offer speculation. The trial court inquired with the jury and the foreman whether a verdict could be reached if given additional time. The jury indicated that a verdict could not be reached. 2RP at 49-51. Much of the Appellant's argument is based upon the notion that four hours of testimony, five hours of deliberations, and the issue of witness credibility should have been sufficient to find the jury deadlocked. *Brief of Appellant* at 10.

However, the determination to discharge a jury does not simply end there. As stated above, the trial courts must find the presence of "extraordinary and striking" circumstances when declaring a mistrial for a deadlocked jury. Instead of simply accepting the jury's announcement, the trial court approached the situation with caution. After conferring with both attorneys, the court decided that the best course of conduct was to have the jury continue its deliberations. 2RP at 51-55. The trial court then brought the jury back into the court room, informed them that their deliberations were going to continue on the following Monday, and not to discuss the case until deliberations resumed. 2RP at 57-59.

The trial court did not offer the jury a specific amount of time in order to reach a verdict. The jury was not instructed to disclose its numerical division to the court, nor was the jury required to instruct the court as to how the voting had occurred. Despite the fact that the jury indicated it could not reach a verdict, there is nothing in the record to establish that the jury was "hopelessly deadlocked" or "frustrated over its inability to reach a verdict." *State v. Barnes*, 85 Wn. App. 638, 657, 932 P.2d 669 (Div. II 1997). The trial court did explore an alternative to simply discharging the jury – grant them additional time to deliberate.

A key factor the Appellant either ignores or fails to recognize is that his own trial counsel agreed with the trial court's decision to have the jury continue its deliberations. "My one concern with that, Your Honor, *I think it's an appropriate plan*, is that I'm in Wahkiakum County at 9:30 on Monday morning." 2RP at 55. (*emphasis* added). The Appellant's trial counsel was only concerned with whether he could find coverage for the verdict. It was only after the jury came back with a guilty verdict did the Appellant seek a mistrial based upon the jury being deadlocked.

The Appellant claims that upon being brought back for its deliberations, "the jury almost immediately reached a verdict." *Brief of Appellant* at 11. This is a mischaracterization of the record. The trial court ordered the jury to return for its deliberations on Monday at 8:50 a.m. 2RP at 57. After reconvening, the jury reached its verdict at approximately 9:40 a.m. 3RP at 11. This is not indicative of the jury convening in the jury room and almost immediately saying guilty. Instead, the jury had the opportunity to deliberate for almost an additional hour.

The trial court did not tell the jury that it had to reach a verdict. The jury was not offered a specific amount of additional time to continue deliberations in order to reach a verdict. Simply put, the trial court never made any statements that were likely or designed to influence the jury's decision in reaching a verdict. Instead, the record is quite clear the trial court used its discretion and allowed the jury additional time to deliberate.

# V. <u>CONCLUSION</u>

The Appellant's due process rights were not violated when the trial court ordered the jury to continue its deliberations. Thus, the State requests the Court affirm the Appellant's conviction and deny the Appellant's appeal.

Respectfully submitted this \_\_\_\_\_ day of October, 2014.

SEAN M. BRITTAIN

WSBA# 36804

Attorney for Respondent